ANNALS OF MATHEMATICS

On the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotients modulo squares

By TIM DOKCHITSER and VLADIMIR DOKCHITSER



SECOND SERIES, VOL. 172, NO. 1 July, 2010

ANMAAH

On the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotients modulo squares

By TIM DOKCHITSER and VLADIMIR DOKCHITSER

to John Coates

Abstract

Let A be an abelian variety over a number field K. An identity between the L-functions $L(A/K_i, s)$ for extensions K_i of K induces a conjectural relation between the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotients. We prove these relations modulo finiteness of III, and give an analogous statement for Selmer groups. Based on this, we develop a method for determining the parity of various combinations of ranks of A over extensions of K. As one of the applications, we establish the parity conjecture for elliptic curves assuming finiteness of III $(E/K(E[2]))[6^{\infty}]$ and some restrictions on the reduction at primes above 2 and 3: the parity of the Mordell-Weil rank of E/K agrees with the parity of the analytic rank, as determined by the root number. We also prove the *p*-parity conjecture for all elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} and all primes *p*: the parities of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank and the analytic rank agree.

Contents

1. Introduction

- 2. □-Conjecture and regulator quotients
 - 2.1. Artin formalism and BSD-quotients
 - 2.2. □-Conjecture
 - 2.3. Regulator quotients and ranks
 - 2.4. Regulator constants: examples
- 3. Tamagawa numbers and root numbers for elliptic curves
 - 3.1. Review of root numbers
 - 3.2. The case of $\binom{1}{0}$ *)-extensions
 - 3.3. Application to the parity conjecture
- 4. Selmer groups
 - 4.1. Invariance of the BSD-quotient for Selmer groups
 - 4.2. Isogenies between products of Weil restrictions
 - 4.3. Determining Q
 - 4.4. Example: Selmer ranks for $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$ -extensions

4.5. Example: Dihedral groups

4.6. Application to the *p*-Parity Conjecture over \mathbb{Q}

References

1. Introduction

The celebrated conjecture of Birch, Swinnerton-Dyer and Tate asserts that for every elliptic curve *E* over a number field *K*, its Mordell-Weil rank coincides with the order of vanishing of its *L*-function at s = 1. The parity of the latter is determined by the root number $w(E/K) = \pm 1$, the sign in the expected functional equation of the *L*-function, leading to

CONJECTURE 1.1 (Parity Conjecture). The Mordell-Weil rank rk(E/K) is even if and only if the root number w(E/K) is +1.

Save for the rank 0 and 1 cases over \mathbb{Q} , virtually nothing is known about this problem. At best, one can only lay hands on the p^{∞} -Selmer rank $\operatorname{rk}_p(E/K)$ for a prime p, that is the Mordell-Weil rank plus the number of copies of $\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$ in the Tate-Shafarevich group $\operatorname{III}(E/K)$. The Parity Conjecture can also be formulated for Selmer ranks, as III is supposed to be finite by the Shafarevich-Tate conjecture:

CONJECTURE 1.2 (*p*-parity). $\operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/K)$ is even if and only if w(E/K) = 1.

In view of the conjectures, the definition of the root number as a product of local terms (local root numbers) suggests that the parities of rk(E/K) and $rk_p(E/K)$ should be governed by local data of the elliptic curve. The purpose of the paper is to develop a theory that provides such a "local-to-global" expression for various combinations of ranks of E over extensions of K. The exact description of these "computable" combinations is a curious group-theoretic problem that we have not addressed. However, there are enough of them to enable us to prove:

THEOREM 1.3. Assuming the Shafarevich-Tate conjecture, Conjecture 1.1 holds over all number fields for elliptic curves with semistable reduction at primes v|6 and not supersingular at v|2.

THEOREM 1.4. Conjecture 1.2 holds for all E/\mathbb{Q} and all primes p.

Our starting point is a conjectural formula implied by Artin formalism for L-functions and the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture. As above, fix an elliptic curve E/K (or a principally polarised abelian variety). Suppose L_i, L'_j are finite extensions of K such that the $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{K}/K)$ -representations $\bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i}$ and $\bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L'_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_i}$ are isomorphic. Then

$$\prod_{i} L(E/L_i, s) = \prod_{j} L(E/L'_j, s),$$

by Artin formalism. Ignoring rational squares, the conjectural expression for the leading terms at s = 1 leads to a relation between the regulators and Tamagawa

numbers that we will refer to as the \Box -Conjecture. For instance, for semistable elliptic curves it reads

$$\prod_{i} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L_{i})c(E/L_{i}) \equiv \prod_{j} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L'_{j})c(E/L'_{j}) \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}$$

with c the product of local Tamagawa numbers. We will show that the \Box -Conjecture follows from the Shafarevich-Tate conjecture.

The crucial observation is that the regulators need not cancel by themselves. It turns out that their quotient can always be expressed through a combination of Mordell-Weil ranks, whose parity is therefore determined by local data. Here is an illustration of how this works in the simplest possible setting, semistable elliptic curves in S_3 -extensions:

Example 1.5. Suppose $Gal(F/K) \cong S_3$, and let M, L be intermediate extensions of degrees 2 and 3 over K, respectively. There is a relation

$$(\operatorname{Ind}_{F/K} \mathbf{1}_F) \oplus \mathbf{1}_K^{\oplus 2} \cong (\operatorname{Ind}_{M/K} \mathbf{1}_M) \oplus (\operatorname{Ind}_{L/K} \mathbf{1}_L)^{\oplus 2}.$$

(i) For semistable E/K, the \Box -Conjecture implies that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Reg}(E/F)\operatorname{Reg}(E/K)^2}{\operatorname{Reg}(E/M)\operatorname{Reg}(E/L)^2} \equiv \frac{c(E/F)c(E/K)^2}{c(E/M)c(E/L)^2} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

(ii) The quotient of regulators is related to Mordell-Weil ranks (Example 2.18):

$$3^{\operatorname{rk}(E/K)+\operatorname{rk}(E/M)+\operatorname{rk}(E/L)} \equiv \frac{\operatorname{Reg}(E/F)\operatorname{Reg}(E/K)^2}{\operatorname{Reg}(E/M)\operatorname{Reg}(E/L)^2} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

Thus, assuming finiteness of III, we obtain an expression for the sum of the three ranks rk(E/K) + rk(E/M) + rk(E/L) in terms of local data.

(ii') In fact, by a somewhat more sophisticated technique, we can prove an analogous (unconjectural) statement about 3^{∞} -Selmer ranks (Theorem 4.11):

$$\operatorname{rk}_{3}(E/K) + \operatorname{rk}_{3}(E/M) + \operatorname{rk}_{3}(E/L) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_{3} \frac{c(E/F)c(E/K)^{2}}{c(E/M)c(E/L)^{2}} \pmod{2}.$$

(iii) Finally, a purely local computation allows us to relate the Tamagawa numbers to root numbers (Proposition 3.3):

$$w(E/K)w(E/M)w(E/L) = 1 \iff \operatorname{ord}_3 \frac{c(E/F)c(E/K)^2}{c(E/M)c(E/L)^2} \equiv 0 \pmod{2},$$

and we obtain a special case of the parity conjecture for S_3 -extensions.

The layout of the paper is as follows: In Sections 2.1–2.2 we formulate the \Box -Conjecture and prove it assuming finiteness of III (Conjecture 2.4, Corollary 2.5). This relies on invariance of the BSD-quotient under Weil restriction of scalars and under isogenies. Next, we relate the quotient of regulators from the conjecture to the parity of Mordell-Weil ranks in Section 2.3 (Theorem 2.12, Corollary 2.13), and give examples in Section 2.4.

Thus, we have now complete versions of steps (i) and (ii) of the above example (principally polarised abelian varieties and arbitrary field extensions). We do not attempt to deal with (iii) in such generality, but confine ourselves to elliptic curves and extensions with Galois group $\binom{1}{0} * \subset GL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. After reviewing the classification of root numbers in Section 3.1, we relate the Tamagawa numbers to root numbers for such extensions in Section 3.2 (Prop. 3.3). Combined with the results of [11] on the parity conjecture for elliptic curves with a 2-isogeny, this proves Theorem 1.3.

So far, we related parities of Mordell-Weil ranks to Tamagawa numbers assuming that III is finite. In Section 4 we address the problem of getting an unconditional statement about Selmer ranks (as in (ii')). We prove an analogue of the \Box -Conjecture (Theorem 4.3, Corollary 4.5) by tweaking Tate-Milne's proof of the isogeny invariance of the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture. The quotient of regulators is replaced by a quantity Q measuring the effect of an isogeny on Selmer groups. In Section 4.3 we turn Q into Selmer ranks in fair generality (Theorem 4.7, Corollary 4.8), and we illustrate it for S_n -extensions (Example 4.9), $\binom{1 *}{0 *}$ -extensions (§4.4), and dihedral extensions (§4.5). In Section 4.4 we give an application to ranks of elliptic curves in false Tate curve towers. We end in Section 4.6 by proving Theorem 1.4; for odd p it is a consequence of our results for dihedral extensions and the existence of quadratic and anticyclotomic twists for which the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer rank formula is known to hold.¹

Finally, let us mention how the applications of our theory connect to earlier work. To our best knowledge, over number fields Theorem 1.3 is the first general result of this kind, except for the work [7], [11] on curves with a *p*-isogeny. In contrast, the *p*-parity conjecture over \mathbb{Q} was known in almost all cases, thanks to Birch, Stephens, Greenberg and Guo [3], [15], [16] (*E* CM), Kramer, Monsky [22], [26] (*p* = 2), Nekovář [28] (*p* potentially ordinary or potentially multiplicative) and Kim [18] (*p* supersingular). The results for Selmer groups in dihedral and false Tate curve extensions are similar to those recently obtained by Mazur-Rubin [23] and Coates-Fukaya-Kato-Sujatha [7], [8], respectively.

Notation. Throughout the paper K always denotes a number field. For a place v of K we write $|\cdot|_v$ for the normalised absolute value at v. If L/K is a finite extension, we denote by $\operatorname{Ind}_{L/K} \mathbf{1}_L$ the induction of the trivial (complex) representation of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/L)$ to $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$. This is the permutation representation corresponding to the set of K-embeddings of L into \overline{K} .

For an elliptic curve E/K we use the following notation:

¹Since writing of this paper, we have extended (ii') and (iii) to arbitrary Gal(F/K) in [13], [12]; for (ii') the theory is now as clean as for (ii), e.g. computations with isogenies in Sections 4.4–4.5 are replaced by elementary representation theory, as in Section 2.4.

 $\operatorname{rk}(E/K)$ Mordell-Weil rank of E/K. p^{∞} -Selmer rank of E/K, i.e. $\operatorname{rk}_p(E/K)$ $\operatorname{rk}(E/K)$ + number of copies of $\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$ in $\operatorname{III}(E/K)$. $w(E/K_v)$ local root number of E at a place v of K. global root number, = $\prod_{v} w(E/K_v)$. w(E/K) $\operatorname{Reg}(E/K)$ regulator of E/K, i.e. $|\det|$ of the canonical height pairing on a basis of $E(K)/E(K)_{\text{tors}}$. local Tamagawa number at a finite place v. c_v c(E/K)product of the local Tamagawa numbers, $= \prod_{v \nmid \infty} c_v$. the Weil restriction of scalars of E/F to K. $W_{F/K}(E)$

Finally, we will need a slight modification of c(E/K). Fix an invariant differential ω on E. Let ω_v^o be Néron differentials at finite places v of K, and set

$$C(E/K) = \prod_{v \nmid \infty} c_v \Big| \frac{\omega}{\omega_v^o} \Big|_v.$$

Note that C(E/K) depends on the choice of ω , although we have omitted this from the notation. When writing $C(E/L_i)$ for various extensions L_i/K , we always implicitly use the same K-rational differential.

We use similar notation for abelian varieties (the analogue of an invariant differential being a nonzero global exterior form). We write A^t for the dual abelian variety.

2. □-Conjecture and regulator quotients

2.1. Artin formalism and BSD-quotients. Let K be a number field and let A/K be an abelian variety with a fixed nonzero global exterior form ω . Recall the statement of the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture:

CONJECTURE 2.1 (Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer, Tate [34]).

(1) The L-function L(A/K, s) has an analytic continuation to s = 1, and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=1} L(A/K, s) = \operatorname{rk}(A/K).$$

(2) The Tate-Shafarevich group III(A/K) is finite, and the leading coefficient of L(A/K, s) at s = 1 is

$$BSD(A/K) = \frac{|III(A/K)|\operatorname{Reg}(A/K)C(A/K)}{|A(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}||A^{t}(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}||\Delta_{K}|^{\dim A/2}} \prod_{\substack{v \mid \infty \\ \operatorname{real}}} \int_{A(K_{v})} |\omega| \prod_{\substack{v \mid \infty \\ \operatorname{cplx}}} 2^{\dim A} \int_{A(K_{v})} \omega \wedge \overline{\omega}.$$

Notation. We call BSD(A/K) the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotient for A/K. We also write BSD_p(A/K) for the same expression with III replaced by its *p*-primary component III[p^{∞}]. (They are independent of the choice of ω by the product formula.)

Now let $L_i \supset K$ and $L'_i \supset K$ be number fields such that

$$\bigoplus_{i} \operatorname{Ind}_{L_{i}/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_{i}} \cong \bigoplus_{j} \operatorname{Ind}_{L_{j}'/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_{j}'}$$

as complex representations of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$. In other words, the $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ -sets $\coprod_i \operatorname{Hom}_K(L_i, \overline{K})$ and $\coprod_j \operatorname{Hom}_K(L'_j, \overline{K})$ give rise to isomorphic permutation representations. By Artin formalism for *L*-functions,

$$\prod_{i} L(A/L_i, s) = \prod_{j} L(A/L'_j, s),$$

so the following is a consequence of Conjecture 2.1.

CONJECTURE 2.2. With A/K and L_i, L'_i as above,

- (a) $\sum_{i} \operatorname{rk}(A/L_{i}) = \sum_{j} \operatorname{rk}(A/L'_{j}),$
- (b) $\operatorname{III}(A/L_i)$, $\operatorname{III}(A/L'_j)$ are finite, and $\prod_i \operatorname{BSD}(A/L_i) = \prod_j \operatorname{BSD}(A/L'_j)$.

This is in effect a compatibility statement of the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture with Artin formalism. Part (a) is easily seen to be true: let F/K be a finite Galois extension containing L_i and L'_j , and let $V = A(F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$\operatorname{rk}(A/L_i) = \dim V^{\operatorname{Gal}(F/L_i)} = \langle \mathbf{1}_{L_i}, \operatorname{Res}_{F/L_i} V \rangle = \langle \operatorname{Ind}_{F/L_i} \mathbf{1}_{L_i}, V \rangle$$

by Frobenius reciprocity, and similarly for L'_i ; now, take the sum over *i* and *j*.

We now show that (b) is implied by the finiteness of III. As C. S. Dalawat, K. Rubin and M. Shuter pointed out to us, this is essentially the same as H. Yu's Theorem 5 in [38].

THEOREM 2.3. Let A/K be an abelian variety, and let L_i , L'_j be finite extensions of K satisfying $\bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i} \cong \bigoplus_j \operatorname{Ind}_{L'_j/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_j}$. Suppose that $\operatorname{III}(A/L_i)$, $\operatorname{III}(A/L'_i)$ are finite. Then Conjecture 2.2b holds.

Furthermore, if we weaken the assumption to $\operatorname{III}(A/L_i)[p^{\infty}], \operatorname{III}(A/L'_j)[p^{\infty}]$ being finite for some prime p, then the p-part of Conjecture 2.2b holds, i.e.

$$\prod_{i} \operatorname{BSD}_{p}(A/L_{i}) / \prod_{j} \operatorname{BSD}_{p}(A/L'_{j})$$

is a rational number with trivial *p*-valuation.

Proof. For F/K finite, write $W_{F/K}(A)$ for the Weil restriction of scalars of A/F to K. This is an abelian variety over K of dimension $[F:K] \dim A$, and $BSD_p(W_{F/K}(A)) = BSD_p(A/F)$ provided that $III(A/F)[p^{\infty}]$ is finite ([24, §1]). Consider

 $X = \prod_{i} W_{L_i/K}(A), \qquad Y = \prod_{j} W_{L'_j/K}(A).$

Then $BSD_p(X) = \prod_i BSD_p(A/L_i)$ and $BSD_p(Y) = \prod_j BSD_p(A/L'_j)$. By the invariance of the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotient under isogenies ([6], [34] and [25, Th. 7.3, Rem. 7.4]), it suffices to show that X and Y are isogenous.

572

As the representations $\bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i}$ and $\bigoplus_j \operatorname{Ind}_{L'_j/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_j}$ are realisable over \mathbb{Q} and are isomorphic over \mathbb{C} , they are isomorphic over \mathbb{Q} (see e.g. [32, Ch. 12, Prop. 33 and the remark following it]). So the corresponding integral permutation modules are isogenous, in the sense that there is an inclusion of one as a finite index submodule of the other. This induces an isogeny $X \to Y$ (see [24, §2, Prop. 6a]). \Box

2.2. \Box -*Conjecture*. Although Conjecture 2.2b has the advantage that it does not involve *L*-functions, it still relies on the finiteness of III. Also, even when III is finite it is hard to determine, which makes the statement difficult to work with. However, if *A* is principally polarised and III is finite, then the order of III is either a square or twice a square by the nondegeneracy of the Cassels-Tate pairing [35]. (If *A* is an elliptic curve or has a principal polarisation arising from a *K*-rational divisor, then the order of III is a square; see [5], [35], [30].) So we can eliminate III from the statement by working modulo squares, which also removes the contribution from the torsion. Moreover, in this combination of BSD-quotients, the discriminants of fields cancel by the conductor-discriminant formula, as do the real and complex periods, provided that one chooses the same ω over *K* for each term. Thus Conjecture 2.2b implies the following (see Remark 2.7 for an extension to abelian varieties):

CONJECTURE 2.4 (\Box -Conjecture). Let E/K be an elliptic curve, and fix an invariant differential ω on E. Let L_i, L'_j be finite extensions of K satisfying $\oplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i} \cong \oplus_j \operatorname{Ind}_{L'_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_i}$. Then

$$\prod_{i} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L_{i}) C(E/L_{i}) \equiv \prod_{j} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L'_{j}) C(E/L'_{j}) \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

COROLLARY 2.5 (of Theorem 2.3). The *p*-part of Conjecture 2.4 holds, provided that $\operatorname{III}(E/L_i)[p^{\infty}]$ and $\operatorname{III}(E/L'_i)[p^{\infty}]$ are finite. In other words,

$$\prod_{i} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L_{i}) C(E/L_{i}) / \prod_{j} \operatorname{Reg}(E/L'_{j}) C(E/L'_{j})$$

is a rational number with even p-valuation.

We are going to explore the (surprisingly nontrivial) consequences of this for parities of Mordell-Weil ranks. Here is a simple example:

Example 2.6. Take the modular curve $E = X_1(11)$ over the fields \mathbb{Q} , $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3)$, $L = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt[3]{m})$ and $F = \mathbb{Q}(\mu_3, \sqrt[3]{m})$ for m > 1 cube free. We have an equality of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Q})$ -representations,

$$(\mathrm{Ind}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\,\mathbf{1}_F)\oplus(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\oplus 2}\cong(\mathrm{Ind}_{L/\mathbb{Q}}\,\mathbf{1}_L)^{\oplus 2}\oplus(\mathrm{Ind}_{\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3)/\mathbb{Q}}\,\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3)}).$$

- -

The Mordell-Weil rank of *E* is 0 over $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3)$, so $\text{Reg}(E/\mathbb{Q})$ and $\text{Reg}(E/\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3))$ are both 1. The \Box -Conjecture implies that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Reg}(E/F)}{\operatorname{Reg}(E/L)^2} \equiv \frac{c(E/\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3))c(E/L)^2}{c(E/F)c(E/\mathbb{Q})^2} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

For v|11, the local Tamagawa number c_v is the valuation of the minimal discriminant (= -11) at v, because E has split multiplicative reduction at v. So, by a simple computation, the above quotient of Tamagawa numbers is 1 when $11 \nmid m$ and 3 when 11|m. On the other hand, let $P_1, ..., P_n$ be a basis for $E(L) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, and H the height matrix $\langle P_i, P_j \rangle_L$, so that $\operatorname{Reg}(E/L)$ is $|\det(H)|$ up to a (rational) square. If $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$ is an element of order 3, then $P_1, ..., P_n, P_1^g, ..., P_n^g$ is a basis for $E(F) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. One readily verifies that the height matrix over F is $\binom{2H - H}{-H 2H}$, so the regulator $\operatorname{Reg}(E/F)$ is $3^n |\det(H)|^2$ up to a square. Hence the \Box -Conjecture implies that $\operatorname{rk}(E/\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt[3]{m}))$ is odd if and only if 11|m. (See Example 2.18 and Corollary 2.21 for a generalisation.)

We end with a few observations:

Remark 2.7. There are obvious analogues of the \Box -Conjecture and Corollary 2.5 for principally polarised abelian varieties. The only difference is that for p = 2 one needs the polarisation to come from a *K*-rational divisor.

Remark 2.8. For elliptic curves, the local terms c_v and $|\omega/\omega_v^o|_v$ can be obtained from Tate's algorithm, and so the conjecture gives an explicit relation between regulators. Note also that the advantage of working with regulators up to rational squares is that one may compute the height matrix on an arbitrary \mathbb{Q} -basis of $E(k) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$.

Remark 2.9. If E/K is semistable, then C(E/k) may be replaced by just the product of the local Tamagawa numbers c(E/k) in Conjecture 2.2–Corollary 2.5. Indeed, it suffices to show that above a given prime v of K, the contribution from the differential to $\prod_i C(E/L_i)/\prod_j C(E/L'_j)$ is trivial. But this contribution is easily seen to be the same for every choice of a local differential w_v/K_v , and it is 1 if w_v is minimal (as it stays minimal in every extension).

Remark 2.10. In Theorem 2.3 and Corollary 2.5, the assumption that $\operatorname{III}[p^{\infty}]$ is finite for A over all L_i, L'_j follows from its finiteness over their compositum: if A/K is an abelian variety and L/K a finite extension with $\operatorname{III}(A/L)[p^{\infty}]$ finite, then $\operatorname{III}(A/K)[p^{\infty}]$ is also finite. Indeed, the Weil restriction of scalars $W_{L/K}(A)$ after an isogeny contains A as a direct summand. Since, by assumption, $\operatorname{III}(A/L)[p^{\infty}] \cong \operatorname{III}(W_{L/K}(A)/K)[p^{\infty}]$ is finite, so is $\operatorname{III}(A/K)[p^{\infty}]$.

2.3. Regulator quotients and ranks. We now explain how to turn the regulator quotients from the \Box -Conjecture into parities of Mordell-Weil ranks. If A/K is an abelian variety and $\operatorname{Gal}(F/K) \cong G$, consider the decomposition $A(F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \cong \bigoplus \rho_k^{\oplus n_k}$ into \mathbb{Q} -irreducible rational *G*-representations. We will show that for given $L_i, L'_j \subset F$ the regulator quotient equals $\prod_k \mathscr{C}(\rho_k)^{n_k}$ for purely representation-theoretic quantities $\mathscr{C}(\rho_k)$ (regulator constants) that do not depend on *A* or the height pairing.

Let G be a finite group, and \mathcal{H} a set of representatives of the subgroups of G up to conjugacy. Its elements are in one-to-one correspondence with transitive

574

G-sets via $H \mapsto G/H$. We call an element of $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{H}$,

$$\Theta = \sum_{i} H_{i} - \sum_{j} H'_{j} \qquad (H_{i}, H'_{j} \in \mathcal{H})$$

a relation between permutation representations if $\bigoplus_i \mathbb{C}[G/H_i] \cong \bigoplus_j \mathbb{C}[G/H'_j]$. If $\operatorname{Gal}(F/K) \cong G$, then in terms of the fixed fields $L_i = F^{H_i}$ and $L'_j = F^{H'_j}$,

$$\bigoplus_i \operatorname{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i} \cong \bigoplus_j \operatorname{Ind}_{L'_j/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_j}.$$

Notation. Suppose V is a complex representation of G, given with a G-invariant nondegenerate Hermitian inner product \langle, \rangle and a basis $\{e_i\}$. We write det \langle, \rangle or det $(\langle, \rangle | V)$ for the determinant of the matrix $(\langle e_i, e_j \rangle)_{ij}$. If V is defined over \mathbb{Q} , then the class of det \langle, \rangle in $\mathbb{R}^*/\mathbb{Q}^{*2}$ does not depend on the choice of a rational basis.

Definition 2.11. For each Q-irreducible rational representation ρ of G fix a G-invariant real-valued symmetric positive definite inner product \langle, \rangle on it, and define the *regulator constant*

$$\mathscr{C}(\Theta,\rho) = \frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle|\rho^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{j}'|}\langle,\rangle|\rho^{H_{j}'})} \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}/\mathbb{Q}^{*2}.$$

It follows from the theorem below that this is independent of the choice of the inner product. (In particular, $\mathscr{C}(\Theta, \rho)$ is indeed in $\mathbb{Q}^*/\mathbb{Q}^{*2}$ rather than $\mathbb{R}^*/\mathbb{Q}^{*2}$, as we can choose \langle, \rangle to be \mathbb{Q} -valued.)

THEOREM 2.12. For any $V \cong \bigoplus_k \rho_k^{n_k}$ with ρ_k rational \mathbb{Q} -irreducible representations,

$$\frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle|V^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}'|}\langle,\rangle|V^{H_{j}'})} = \prod_{k} \mathscr{C}(\Theta,\rho_{k})^{n_{k}} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}},$$

for any *G*-invariant real-valued symmetric positive definite inner product \langle,\rangle on *V*.

COROLLARY 2.13. Let A/K be a principally polarised abelian variety, and let Θ and F/K, L_i , L'_j be as above. Let $\{\rho_k\}_k$ be the set of \mathbb{Q} -irreducible rational representations of G, and let n_k be the multiplicity of ρ_k in $A(F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. Then

$$\frac{\prod_{i} \operatorname{Reg}(A/L_{i})}{\prod_{j} \operatorname{Reg}(A/L'_{j})} = \prod_{k} \mathscr{C}(\Theta, \rho_{k})^{n_{k}} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

In the remainder of Section 2.3 we prove Theorem 2.12. It suffices to show that the left-hand side is independent of the choice of an inner product.

LEMMA 2.14. Let V be a (complex) vector space and $\langle, \rangle_1, \langle, \rangle_2$ Hermitian inner products. Then det $\langle, \rangle_1/\det\langle, \rangle_2$ is independent of the choice of a basis of V.

Proof. Changing the basis converts the matrix X of an inner product to $M^t X \overline{M}$, where M is the matrix of the basis. The assertion follows from taking the quotient of the determinants.

LEMMA 2.15. Let $\Theta = \sum_i H_i - \sum_j H'_j$ be a relation between permutation representations and ρ a complex representation. Then

$$\sum_{i}\dim\rho^{H_{i}}-\sum_{j}\dim\rho^{H_{j}'}=0.$$

Proof. Writing \langle , \rangle_G for the usual inner product on the space of characters,

$$\sum \dim \rho^{H_i} = \sum \langle \operatorname{Res}_{H_i} \rho, \mathbf{1}_{H_i} \rangle_{H_i} = \sum \langle \rho, \operatorname{Ind}^G \mathbf{1}_{H_i} \rangle_G = \langle \rho, \oplus \operatorname{Ind}^G \mathbf{1}_{H_i} \rangle_G.$$

There is a similar expression for H'_j and the right-hand sides of the two are the same.

LEMMA 2.16. Let $\Theta = \sum_i H_i - \sum_j H'_j$ be as above, and τ a complex irreducible representation with a Hermitian G-invariant inner product. For each subgroup H fix a basis of τ^H and let M_H be the matrix of the inner product on this basis. Suppose $\rho \cong \tau^n$ with some Hermitian G-invariant inner product \langle, \rangle . With respect to the bases of ρ^H induced from those of τ^H by this isomorphism,

$$\frac{\prod \det(\frac{1}{|H_i|}\langle,\rangle|\rho^{H_i})}{\prod \det(\frac{1}{|H'_j|}\langle,\rangle|\rho^{H'_j})} = \left(\frac{\prod \det\frac{1}{|H_i|}M_{H_i}}{\prod \det\frac{1}{|H'_j|}M_{H'_j}}\right)^n$$

In particular the expression is independent of the choice of \langle , \rangle .

Proof. Since the Hermitian G-invariant inner product on τ is unique up to a scalar, the matrix of \langle , \rangle on ρ^H with respect to the induced basis is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{11}M_H & \lambda_{12}M_H & \dots & \lambda_{1n}M_H \\ \lambda_{21}M_H & \lambda_{22}M_H & \dots & \lambda_{2n}M_H \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \lambda_{n1}M_H & \lambda_{n2}M_H & \dots & \lambda_{nn}M_H \end{pmatrix},$$

for some $n \times n$ matrix $\Lambda = (\lambda_{xy})$ not depending on H. Hence

$$\det(\frac{1}{|H|}\langle,\rangle|\rho^H) = (\det\Lambda)^{\dim\tau^H} (\det\frac{1}{|H|}M_H)^n.$$

The dimensions dim τ^H cancel in Θ by Lemma 2.15, and the result follows. \Box

THEOREM 2.17. Let $\Theta = \sum_i H_i - \sum_j H'_j$ be as above, and ρ a complex representation of G. Suppose $\langle, \rangle_1, \langle, \rangle_2$ are two Hermitian G-invariant inner products on ρ . For each subgroup H fix a basis of ρ^H . Then, computing with respect to these bases, we have

$$\frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle_{1}|\rho^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{j}'|}\langle,\rangle_{1}|\rho^{H_{j}'})} = \frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle_{2}|\rho^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{j}'|}\langle,\rangle_{2}|\rho^{H_{j}'})}.$$

576

Proof. For each subgroup H and each isotypical component $\rho_l \cong \tau_l^{n_l}$ of ρ , choose a basis of τ_l^H and induce a basis of ρ_l^H as in the previous lemma. Then

$$\frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle_{1}|\rho_{l}^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{j}'|}\langle,\rangle_{1}|\rho_{l}^{H_{j}'})} = \frac{\prod_{i} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{i}|}\langle,\rangle_{2}|\rho_{l}^{H_{i}})}{\prod_{j} \det(\frac{1}{|H_{j}'|}\langle,\rangle_{2}|\rho_{l}^{H_{j}'})}.$$

The isotypical components of ρ are pairwise orthogonal, so taking direct sums gives the same formula with ρ in place of ρ_l . Finally, application of Lemma 2.14 for every H_i , H'_j shows that we could take any basis of ρ^{H_i} , $\rho^{H'_j}$ instead of the constructed one.

As a consequence we deduce Theorem 2.12: if ρ is rational, and we work up to rational squares, then we do not have to compute $\det(\frac{1}{|H|}\langle,\rangle_1|\rho^H)$ and $\det(\frac{1}{|H|}\langle,\rangle_2|\rho^H)$ in the same basis.

2.4. Regulator constants: examples.

Example 2.18. The group $G = S_3$ has 3 irreducible representations, namely 1 (trivial), ε (sign) and Δ (2-dimensional), and its set of subgroups up to conjugacy is $\mathcal{H} = \{1, C_2, C_3, S_3\}$. The submodule of $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{H}$ of relations is generated by the following element Θ , with regulator constants

$$\frac{\mathbf{1} \ \varepsilon \ \Delta}{\Theta = 2S_3 + 1 - 2C_2 - C_3 \ 3 \ 3 \ 3}$$

Hence, if $Gal(F/K) \cong S_3$ and A/K is principally polarised, then

$$\operatorname{Reg}(A/K)^{2}\operatorname{Reg}(A/F)\operatorname{Reg}(A/F^{C_{2}})^{-2}\operatorname{Reg}(A/F^{C_{3}})^{-1} = 3^{n_{1}}3^{n_{\varepsilon}}3^{n_{\Delta}} \cdot \Box,$$

with n_{ρ} the multiplicity of ρ in $A(F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. So the parity of $n_1 + n_{\varepsilon} + n_{\Delta}$ (equivalently of $\operatorname{rk}(A/K) + \operatorname{rk}(A/F^{C_3}) + \operatorname{rk}(A/F^{C_2})$) is "computable", that is, it can be determined from the local invariants using the \Box -Conjecture; it is given by

ord₃
$$C(A/K)^2 C(A/F) C(A/F^{C_2})^{-2} C(A/F^{C_3})^{-1} \mod 2.$$

This generalises Example 2.6.

Example 2.19. Take $G = A_5$. Here the irreducible rational representations are **1**, ρ_6 , ρ_4 , ρ_5 of dimensions 1, 6, 4 and 5, respectively, and the subgroups are $\mathcal{H} = \{1, C_2, C_3, C_2 \times C_2, C_5, S_3, D_{10}, A_4, A_5\}$. The lattice of relations is generated by 5 elements, and here are the regulator constants:

	1	ρ_6	$ ho_4$	ρ_5
$\Theta_1 = 1 - 3C_2 + 2C_2 \times C_2$	2	1	1	2
$\Theta_2 = C_2 \times C_2 - 2 D_{10} - A_4 + 2 A_5$	3	1	3	3
$\Theta_3 = S_3 - D_{10} - A_4 + A_5$	3	1	3	3
4 2 3 10			5	
$\Theta_5 = C_3 - C_5 - 2A_4 + 2A_5$	15	5	15	3.

If E/K is an elliptic curve, it follows that the "computable" combinations are $1 + \rho_5$, $1 + \rho_4 + \rho_5$ and $1 + \rho_6 + \rho_4$. (For a general principally polarised abelian variety only the last two are; see Remark 2.7.) For instance, from $1 + \rho_5$, the parity of rk $(E/F^{D_{10}})$ can be determined from the local invariants.

It is interesting to note that A_5 is the only group of order < 120 for which there is a computable combination of representations $(1 + \rho_6 + \rho_4)$ where the dimensions add up to an odd number.

Example 2.20. Let $G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ for some fixed odd prime p. We write $C_p = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $C_{p-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$. The group G has p-1 one-dimensional complex representations whose direct sum is $\operatorname{Ind}^G \mathbf{1}_{C_p}$, and one other (p-1)-dimensional irreducible representation ρ , namely $(\operatorname{Ind}^G \mathbf{1}_{C_{p-1}}) \ominus \mathbf{1}_G$. There is a relation

$$\Theta = 1 - (p-1)C_{p-1} - C_p + (p-1)G.$$

We have $\mathscr{C}(\Theta, \mathbf{1}) = p$ and for Q-irreducible rational $\sigma \subset (\operatorname{Ind}^{G} \mathbf{1}_{C_{p}}) \ominus \mathbf{1}_{G}$,

$$\sigma^G = \sigma^{C_{p-1}} = 0, \qquad \sigma^1 = \sigma^{C_p} = \sigma_q$$

so that $\mathscr{C}(\Theta, \sigma) = p^{\dim \sigma}$. It remains to determine $\mathscr{C}(\Theta, \rho)$. We have

$$\rho^{G} = \rho^{C_{p}} = 0, \qquad \rho^{1} = \rho, \qquad \dim \rho^{C_{p-1}} = 1.$$

If $v \in \rho^{C_{p-1}}$ is nonzero, then $v, gv, \dots, g^{p-2}v$ is a basis for ρ with $g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. Note that $v + gv + \dots + g^{p-1}v = 0$ since it is in ρ^{C_p} . Take the Hermitian *G*-invariant inner product on ρ with $\langle v, v \rangle = 1$, and let us compute the matrix $X = (\langle g^n v, g^m v \rangle)$. By *G*-invariance we only need $\langle v, g^m v \rangle$, but

$$0 = \langle v, \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} g^m v \rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \langle v, g^m v \rangle$$

and the terms on the right-hand side are equal for $m \neq 0$ by C_{p-1} -invariance. So $\langle v, g^m v \rangle = -\frac{1}{p-1}$, and

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{1}{p-1} & \dots & -\frac{1}{p-1} \\ -\frac{1}{p-1} & 1 & \dots & -\frac{1}{p-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\frac{1}{p-1} & -\frac{1}{p-1} & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The determinant of X is $\frac{p^{p-2}}{(p-1)^{p-1}}$ and it follows that $\mathscr{C}(\Theta, \rho) = p$. (For p = 3 this recovers Example 2.18.)

COROLLARY 2.21. Suppose F/K is a Galois extension with Galois group $\binom{1}{0}{*} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$; write M for the fixed field of the commutator subgroup $\binom{1}{0}{*}$ and L for the fixed field of $\binom{1}{0}{*}$. For any principally polarised abelian variety A/K with finite $\operatorname{III}(A/F)[p^{\infty}]$,

$$\operatorname{rk}(A/K) + \operatorname{rk}(A/M) + \operatorname{rk}(A/L) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(A/F)}{C(A/M)} \pmod{2}.$$

Proof. Decompose $A(F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = \mathbf{1}^{n_1} \oplus \rho^{n_\rho} \oplus \bigoplus_i \sigma_i^{n_{\sigma_i}}$ into rational irreducibles, with $\sigma_i \subset (\operatorname{Ind}^G \mathbf{1}_{C_p}) \oplus \mathbf{1}_G$. Combining the above example with Corollary 2.13 and Corollary 2.5 (and Remark 2.7), we obtain

$$n_1 + n_\rho + \sum_i n_{\sigma_i} \dim \sigma_i \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(A/F)C(A/K)^{p-1}}{C(A/M)C(A/L)^{p-1}} \pmod{2}.$$

Finally, $\operatorname{rk}(A/K) = n_1$, $\operatorname{rk}(A/M) = n_1 + \sum n_{\sigma_i} \dim \sigma_i$ and $\operatorname{rk}(A/L) = n_1 + n_{\rho}$. \Box

3. Tamagawa numbers and root numbers for elliptic curves

3.1. *Review of root numbers.* We now turn to Tamagawa numbers and their relation to root numbers, in the special case of elliptic curves. We refer to [31], [19] for the classification of root numbers of elliptic curves in odd residue characteristic. Incidentally, while proving Proposition 3.3 we came upon the following formula (case (4)) for local root numbers. It summarises [19, Th. 1.1 (i), (ii) and Rems. 1.2 (ii), (iii)].

THEOREM 3.1. Let E/K_v be an elliptic curve over a local field. Then

- (1) $w(E/K_v) = -1$ if $v \mid \infty$ or E has split multiplicative reduction.
- (2) $w(E/K_v) = 1$ if E has either good or nonsplit multiplicative reduction.
- (3) $w(E/K_v) = (\frac{-1}{k})$ if *E* has additive, potentially multiplicative reduction, and the residue field *k* of K_v has characteristic $p \ge 3$.
- (4) $w(E/K_v) = (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{\operatorname{ord}_v(\Delta)|k|}{12} \rfloor}$, if *E* has potentially good reduction, and the residue field *k* of K_v has characteristic $p \ge 5$. Here Δ is the minimal discriminant of *E*, and $\lfloor x \rfloor$ is the greatest integer $n \le x$.

Proof. The proof of (1)–(3) follows from the results of [31], [19].

(4) Since $p \ge 5$, we have $\operatorname{ord}_v(\Delta) \in \{0, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10\}$, and it specifies the Kodaira-Néron reduction type of *E*. Moreover, the class of |k| modulo 24 determines the quadratic residue symbols $(\frac{-1}{k})$, $(\frac{2}{k})$ and $(\frac{3}{k})$. Because in our case $w(E/K_v)$ only depends on the reduction type, $\operatorname{ord}_v(\Delta)$ and these symbols ([19, Th. 1.1, Rem. 1.2]), this reduces the proof to a (short) finite computation.

Remark 3.2. In cases (3) and (4) we have the following results, which are elementary to verify:

- (a) The local root number is unchanged in a totally ramified extension of degree prime to 12, and
- (b) If the residue field has square order, then $w(E/K_v) = 1$.

3.2. The case of $\binom{1}{0} * -extensions$. As in Example 2.20 and Corollary 2.21, suppose F/K has Galois group $G = \binom{1}{0} * \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ for some odd prime p, and let M and L be the fixed fields of $\binom{1}{0} * = \binom{1}{0} \operatorname{and} \binom{1}{0} *$, respectively. Fix an elliptic curve

E/K with an invariant differential ω . For a prime v of K, and k = K, L, M, F set

$$W_{v}(k) = \prod_{\nu \mid v} w(E/k_{\nu}), \qquad C_{v}(k) = \prod_{\nu \mid v} c_{\nu} \left| \frac{\omega}{\omega_{\nu}^{o}} \right|_{\nu}$$

where ω_{ν}^{o} is a Néron differential for *E* at a prime ν of *k*. For $\nu \mid \infty$ we define $W_{\nu}(k)$ by the same formula and set $C_{\nu}(k) = 1$.

PROPOSITION 3.3. With fields as above, let E/K be an elliptic curve with a chosen invariant differential ω , and let v be a place of K. If v|6 and ramifies in L/K, assume that E is semistable at v. Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_{p} \frac{C_{v}(F) C_{v}(K)^{p-1}}{C_{v}(M) C_{v}(L)^{p-1}} \equiv 0 \pmod{2} \Longleftrightarrow W_{v}(K) W_{v}(M) W_{v}(L) = 1.$$

Proof. Clearly the left-hand side is the same as $\operatorname{ord}_p(C_v(F)/C_v(M)) \mod 2$. Now consider the following cases depending on the behaviour of v in the (degree p Galois) extension F/M. Note that this extension is ramified if and only if v is ramified in L/K.

Case 1: primes above v in M split in F/M (this includes all Archimedean places). Then $C_v(F) = C_v(M)^p$, so $C_v(F)/C_v(M)$ is a square. Under the action of the decomposition group D_v at v, the G-sets $G/\operatorname{Gal}(F/L)$ and $(G/\operatorname{Gal}(F/M)) \sqcup (G/G)$ are isomorphic. So the number of primes above v with a given ramification and inertial degree is the same in L as in M plus in K. It follows that the local root numbers cancel, $W_v(L) = W_v(K)W_v(M)$.

Case 2: F/M is inert above v. Then v must be totally split in M/K, by the structure of Gal(F/K). As the number of primes above v in M is even, $C_v(F)$ and $C_v(M)$ are both squares, and $W_v(M) = 1$. Since in this case L_v/K_v is Galois of odd degree, $W_v(L) = W_v(K)$ by Kramer-Tunnell [21, proof of Prop. 3.4].

Case 3: F/M is ramified above v and E is semistable at v. The contributions from ω cancel modulo squares, and $W_v(K) = W_v(L)$. If E has split multiplicative reduction over a prime of M above v, this prime contributes p to $C_v(F)/C_v(M)$ and -1 to the root number. If the reduction is either good or nonsplit, it contributes to neither.

Case 4: F/M is ramified above $v \nmid 6p$, and E has additive reduction at v. Since $v \nmid p$, there is no contribution from ω , and v is unramified in M/K (again, using the structure of Gal(F/K) and the fact that totally and tamely ramified Galois extensions of local fields are abelian). In particular, either M has an even number of primes above v, or these primes have even residue degree. In each case $W_v(M) = 1$ by Remark 3.2(b). It remains to compare $W_v(K)$, $W_v(L)$ and the Tamagawa numbers.

Case 4a: $p \neq 3$. All the Tamagawa numbers are prime to p. Also, because (p, 12) = 1 and L_v/K_v is totally ramified, the root numbers $w(E/K_v)$ and $w(E/L_v)$ are equal by Remark 3.2(a).

580

Case 4b: p = 3 and E has reduction type II, II^*, I_0^*, I_n^* (resp. III, III^*) over K_v , and the reduction becomes I_0^*, I_n^* (resp. III, III^*) over L_v . By inspection, the root numbers $w(E/K_v)$ and $w(E/L_v)$ are given by the same residue symbol (this is also clear from [19, 1.1, 1.2]), so they cancel. Also the Tamagawa numbers are coprime to 3 ([33, IV.9.4]).

Case 4c: p = 3 and E has reduction IV, IV^* over K_v . The reduction becomes good over L, so that $W_v(L) = 1$ and $C_v(F) = 1$. Over K_v the root number is 1 if and only if $-3 \in K_v^{*2}$ ([19, Rem. 1.2 (iii)]), that is if $\mu_3 \subset K$. This in turn is equivalent to v being split in M/K (K_v has a cubic ramified Galois extension if and only if $\mu_3 \subset K_v$). Equivalently, there are two primes above v in M and the contribution from the Tamagawa numbers is a square. In the other case, M/K is inert and $C_v(M) = 3$ ([33, IV.9.4, Steps 5, 8]).

Case 5: F/M is ramified above v|p, p > 3 and E has additive reduction at v. According to Remark 3.2, $w(E/K_v) = w(E/L_v)$, so we need the parity of $\operatorname{ord}_p(C_v(F)/C_v(M))$ and $W_v(M)$.

Fix a place w over v in M. We can replace ω by the Néron differential of E/M at w, as this changes $C_v(F)/C_v(M)$ by a number of the form λ^p/λ (which is a square), and the parity of its *p*-adic valuation remains unchanged.

Case 5a: E/M_w has semistable reduction. Our minimal model at w stays minimal in any extension, and so there is no contribution from ω . The result follows as in Case 3.

Case 5b: E/M_w has additive reduction. The reduction stays additive over F and, since p > 3, all the Tamagawa numbers are prime to p. If M has either even number of primes above v or the residue fields have even degree over \mathbb{F}_p , then $W_v(M) = 1$ (by Remark 3.2) and it also follows that the contributions from ω are squares.

Thus we may assume that M_w/K_v has even ramification degree; in particular *E* has potentially good reduction at *v* (for otherwise it would be multiplicative at *w*). We may also assume that there is an odd number of primes over *v* in *M*, and their residue fields are of odd degree over \mathbb{F}_p . By Theorem 3.1 and the fact that $p^2 \equiv 1 \mod 24$,

$$w(M_w) = (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{\operatorname{ord}_{\mathcal{V}}(\Delta)|k|}{12} \rfloor} = (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{\operatorname{ord}_{\mathcal{V}}(\Delta)p}{12} \rfloor},$$

and the right-hand side exactly measures the contribution from $\left|\frac{\omega}{\omega_z^o}\right|_z$ for a prime z|w of *F*. The result follows by taking the product over w|v.

Now we reap the harvest:

THEOREM 3.4. Let *p* be an odd prime. As above, let F/K have Galois group $G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$, and let *M* and *L* be the fixed fields of $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$, respectively. Let E/K be an elliptic curve such that

(1) The p-primary component $\operatorname{III}(E/F)[p^{\infty}]$ is finite.

(2) *E* is semistable at primes v|6 that ramify in L/K.

Then

$$\operatorname{rk}(E/K) + \operatorname{rk}(E/M) + \operatorname{rk}(E/L)$$
 is even $\iff w(E/K)w(E/M)w(E/L) = 1$.

Proof. As $III(E/F)[p^{\infty}]$ is assumed to be finite, by Remark 2.10 the same is true over *K*, *M* and *L*. We now apply the theory from Section 2 to the relation

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{F/K} \mathbf{1}_F \oplus (\operatorname{Ind}_{K/K} \mathbf{1}_K)^{\oplus p-1} \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{M/K} \mathbf{1}_M \oplus (\operatorname{Ind}_{L/K} \mathbf{1}_L)^{\oplus p-1}$$

According to Corollary 2.21, the sum rk(E/K)+rk(E/M)+rk(E/L) is congruent to $ord_p C(E/F)/C(E/M)$ modulo 2. By Proposition 3.3, it is even if and only if

$$\prod_{v \text{ place of } K} w(E/K_v) \prod_{v \text{ place of } L} w(E/L_v) \prod_{v \text{ place of } M} w(E/M_v) = 1.$$

3.3. *Application to the parity conjecture*. In [11, Th. 2] we established the following result:

THEOREM 3.5. Suppose that E/K is semistable at primes above p and has a K-rational isogeny of degree p. If p = 2, assume furthermore that E is not supersingular at primes above 2. Then

$$\operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/K)$$
 even $\iff w(E/K) = 1$.

As an application of Theorem 3.4 to F = K(E[2]) we can prove a form of the parity conjecture (Conjecture 1.1) without the isogeny assumption:

THEOREM 3.6 (=Theorem 1.3). Let E/K be an elliptic curve. Suppose E is semistable at primes dividing 2 and 3 and not supersingular at primes dividing 2. If $\operatorname{III}(E/K(E[2]))$ has finite 2- and 3-primary parts, then

$$\operatorname{rk}(E/K)$$
 even $\iff w(E/K) = 1$.

Proof. Write F = K(E[2]), and note that $\operatorname{Gal}(F/K) \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_2) \cong S_3$. By Remark 2.10, the 2- and 3-primary parts of $\operatorname{III}(E/k)$ are finite for $K \subset k \subset F$.

If *E* has a *K*-rational 2-torsion point, the result follows from Theorem 3.5. If F/K is cubic, then rk(E/K) and rk(E/F) have the same parity, and also w(E/K) = w(E/F), so the result again follows.

We are left with the case when $\operatorname{Gal}(F/K) \cong S_3 \cong \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_3)$. Let *M* be the quadratic extension of *K* in *F* and *L* one of the cubic ones. By the above argument, we know that

$$\operatorname{rk}(E/M)$$
 even $\iff w(E/M) = 1$,
 $\operatorname{rk}(E/L)$ even $\iff w(E/L) = 1$.

On the other hand, by Theorem 3.4 with p = 3,

 $\operatorname{rk}(E/K) + \operatorname{rk}(E/M) + \operatorname{rk}(E/L)$ is even $\iff w(E/K)w(E/M)w(E/L) = 1.$

Remark 3.7. Instead of assuming that III is finite in the theorem one may give a statement about Selmer ranks, by replacing the use of Theorem 3.4 by

Corollary 4.12 in the proof. When $Gal(F/K) \cong S_3$, the parity of

r

$$k_3(E/K) + (rk_3(E/M) - rk_2(E/M)) + (rk_3(E/L) - rk_2(E/L))$$

is given by the root number w(E/K), unconditionally on the finiteness of III. In all other cases it is the parity of $rk_2(E/K)$.

We would also like to remark that if Theorem 3.5 can be extended to curves with arbitrary reduction at $v|_2$, and Proposition 3.3 to extensions where additive primes $v|_6$ are allowed to ramify, the parity conjecture for all elliptic curves over number fields would follow from the finiteness of III.

4. Selmer groups

Hitherto our main tool was Corollary 2.5, relating regulators to Tamagawa numbers assuming that III is finite. In Section 4.1 we extend this to an unconditional statement about Selmer ranks. We get our results (Theorem 4.3 and Corollary 4.5) by tweaking Tate-Milne's proof of the isogeny invariance of the BSD quotient ([25, §1.7]). The quotient of regulators is replaced by a quantity Q measuring the effect of an isogeny on Selmer groups. In Section 4.2 we review how to construct isogenies between products of Weil restrictions of an abelian variety, and in Section 4.3 address the question of turning Q into Selmer ranks (somewhat analogous to turning regulators into Mordell-Weil ranks). This can be done in fair generality (Theorem 4.7, Corollary 4.8), and we illustrate it for S_n -extensions (Example 4.9), $\binom{1 *}{0 *}$ -extensions (§4.4), and dihedral extensions (§4.5). As a final application, in Section 4.6 we establish the p-parity conjecture for elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} .

4.1. Invariance of the BSD-quotient for Selmer groups.

Definition 4.1. For an isogeny $\psi : A \to B$ of abelian varieties over K, let $Q(\psi) = |\operatorname{coker}(\psi : A(K)/A(K)_{\operatorname{tors}} \to B(K)/B(K)_{\operatorname{tors}})|$ $\times |\operatorname{ker}(\psi : \operatorname{III}(A)_{\operatorname{div}} \to \operatorname{III}(B)_{\operatorname{div}})|,$

where III_{div} denotes the divisible part of III.

LEMMA 4.2. $Q(\psi)$ is finite and satisfies the following properties:

(1) $Q(\psi'\psi) = Q(\psi)Q(\psi')$ if $\psi : A \to B$ and $\psi' : B \to C$ are isogenies.

(2) $Q(\psi \oplus \psi') = Q(\psi)Q(\psi')$ if $\psi : A \to B$ and $\psi' : A' \to B'$ are isogenies.

- (3) $Q(\psi) = p^{\operatorname{rk}_p(A/K)}$ if $\psi : A \to A$ is multiplication by p.
- (4) If deg ψ is prime to p, then so is $Q(\psi)$.

Proof. (2) and (3) are clear. The assertion (1) follows from the fact that $\psi : III(A)_{div} \to III(B)_{div}$ is surjective, and $\psi : A(K)/A(K)_{tors} \to B(K)/B(K)_{tors}$ is injective. Next, consider the conjugate isogeny $\psi^c : B \to A$, so that $\psi^c \psi$ is the multiplication by deg ψ map on A. From (1) and (3), $Q(\psi^c)Q(\psi)$ is finite, so $Q(\psi)$ is finite. (4) also follows.

THEOREM 4.3. Let X, Y/K be abelian varieties given with nonzero global exterior forms ω_X, ω_Y . Suppose $\phi : X \to Y$ is an isogeny and $\phi^t : Y^t \to X^t$ its dual. Writing $\coprod_0(X/K)$ for $\coprod(X/K)$ modulo its divisible part and

$$\Omega_X = \prod_{\substack{v \mid \infty \\ \text{real}}} \int_{X(K_v)} |\omega_X| \cdot \prod_{\substack{v \mid \infty \\ \text{complex}}} 2^{\dim X} \int_{X(K_v)} \omega_X \wedge \overline{\omega}_X$$

and similarly for Y, we have

$$\frac{|Y(K)_{\text{tors}}|}{|X(K)_{\text{tors}}|} \frac{|Y^t(K)_{\text{tors}}|}{|X^t(K)_{\text{tors}}|} \frac{C(X/K)}{C(Y/K)} \frac{\Omega_X}{\Omega_Y} \prod_{p|\text{deg}\phi} \frac{|\text{III}_0(X)[p^\infty]|}{|\text{III}_0(Y)[p^\infty]|} = \frac{Q(\phi^t)}{Q(\phi)}$$

Proof. Recall that ω_X and ω_Y enter into the definition of C(X/K) and C(Y/K). The left-hand side of the asserted equation is independent of the choices of ω_X and ω_Y by the product formula, so choose $\omega_X = \phi^* \omega_Y$. Note also that ϕ is an isomorphism between the *p*-primary parts of $III_0(X)$ and $III_0(Y)$ for $p \nmid \deg \phi$, so the product involving III may be taken over any sufficiently large set of primes. (In fact, it is simply |III(X)|/|III(Y)| if both groups are finite.)

Now we follow closely Tate-Milne's proof in [25, §1.7]. If f is a homomorphism of abelian groups with finite kernel and cokernel, write

$$z(f) = \frac{|\ker f|}{|\operatorname{coker} f|}.$$

For $k \supset K$ denote by $\phi(k): X(k) \rightarrow Y(k)$ the map induced by ϕ on *k*-rational points, and similarly for ϕ^t . For a sufficiently large set of places *S* of *K* ([25, I.(7.3.1)]),

$$\prod_{v \in S} z(\phi(K_v)) = \frac{z(\phi(K))}{z(\phi^t(K))} \frac{|\operatorname{III}[\phi^t]|}{|\operatorname{III}[\phi]|}.$$

Moreover, $z(\phi(K_v))$ is the contribution from v to C(Y/K)/C(X/K) for finite places, and the quotient of the corresponding integrals for infinite places with our choice for ω_X, ω_Y . (Milne also relates $z(\phi(K))/z(\phi^t(K))$ to the torsion and the regulators and, assuming finiteness of the Tate-Shafarevich groups, $|\text{III}[\phi^t]|/|\text{III}[\phi]|$ to |III(Y)|/|III(X)|. This gives the usual formula for the isogeny invariance of the BSD-quotient.)

It remains to show that for every prime p,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{p} \frac{z(\phi^{t}(K))}{z(\phi(K))} \frac{|\operatorname{III}[\phi]|}{|\operatorname{III}[\phi^{t}]|} = \operatorname{ord}_{p} \frac{Q(\phi)}{Q(\phi^{t})} \frac{|Y^{t}(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}|}{|X^{t}(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}|} \frac{|Y(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}|}{|X(K)_{\operatorname{tors}}|} \frac{|\operatorname{III}_{0}(X)[p^{\infty}]|}{|\operatorname{III}_{0}(Y)[p^{\infty}]|}$$

Take an integer $N = p^m$ large enough, so that it kills both the *p*-power torsion in X(K) and Y(K) and the *p*-parts of $III_0(X)$ and $III_0(Y)$. Applying Lemma 4.2 (1) and (3), we see that

$$Q(p^m\phi) = p^{m\operatorname{rk}_p(X/K)}Q(\phi), \qquad Q(p^m\phi^t) = p^{m\operatorname{rk}_p(Y^t/K)}Q(\phi^t).$$

Since X, Y and their duals all have the same p^{∞} -Selmer rank (they are all isogenous), it suffices to verify the claim for $\psi = p^m \phi$. But

and similarly for ψ^t . Combining these together yields the assertion.

Remark 4.4. For $\phi : E \to E'$ a cyclic isogeny of degree p, this gives

$$\frac{C(E/K)}{C(E'/K)}\frac{\Omega_E}{\Omega_{E'}} \equiv \frac{Q(\phi^t)}{Q(\phi)} \equiv Q(\phi^t)Q(\phi) = Q([p]) = p^{\operatorname{rk}_p(E/K)} \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}},$$

which is a formula of Cassels (see Birch [2] or Fisher [14]).

COROLLARY 4.5. Let E/K be an elliptic curve with a chosen invariant K-differential ω . Suppose L_i/K , L'_i/K are finite extensions such that

$$X = \prod_{i} W_{L_i/K}(E), \qquad Y = \prod_{j} W_{L'_j/K}(E)$$

are isogenous. If $\phi : X \to Y$ is an isogeny and ϕ^t its dual, then

$$\frac{\prod_i C(E/L_i)}{\prod_j C(E/L'_j)} \equiv \mathcal{Q}(\phi^t) \mathcal{Q}(\phi) \pmod{\mathbb{Q}^{*2}}.$$

The same is true if E is replaced by a principally polarised abelian variety over K, possibly up to a factor of 2 if the polarisation is not induced by a K-rational divisor.

Proof. Inducing exterior forms on $W_{L_i/K}(E)$ and $W_{L'_j/K}(E)$ by ω , we have $\Omega_X = \Omega_Y$. Moreover, $X \cong X^t$, $Y \cong Y^t$ and the *p*-primary parts of \coprod/\amalg_{div} have square order by the properties of the Cassels-Tate pairing.

4.2. *Isogenies between products of Weil restrictions*. To make Corollary 4.5 explicit, recall from Milne's [24, §2] how to construct isogenies

$$X = \prod_{i} W_{L_i/K}(A) \xrightarrow{\phi} \prod_{j} W_{L'_j/K}(A) = Y$$

for a principally polarised abelian variety A/K. For an extension L/K write $G_L = \text{Gal}(\overline{K}/L)$. Suppose $\bigoplus_i \text{Ind}_{L_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L_i} \cong \bigoplus_j \text{Ind}_{L'_i/K} \mathbf{1}_{L'_i}$, and consider

$$M_X = \bigoplus_i \mathbb{Z}[G_K/G_{L_i}], \qquad M_Y = \bigoplus_j \mathbb{Z}[G_K/G_{L'_j}]$$

These are G_K -modules, and satisfy $M_X \otimes \mathbb{Q} \cong M_Y \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. In general, if M is such a module with a given identification $M \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ (as an abelian group), the composition

$$s: G_K \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}}(M) = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}^n) = \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(A^n)$$

is an element of $H^1(G_K, \operatorname{Aut}_{\overline{K}}(A^n))$. It corresponds to a unique form of A^n over K, that is an abelian variety over K such that A^n is isomorphic to it via an isomorphism ψ defined over \overline{K} . (The relation between ψ and s is $s(\sigma) = \psi^{-1}\psi^{\sigma}$.)

Milne denotes this form $A \otimes M$, and with this notation $X = A \otimes M_X$ and $Y = A \otimes M_Y$.

Next, a principal polarisation $\lambda : A \to A^t$ induces one on A^n . So we can view $(A \otimes M)^t$ as a form of A^n , which is seen to be the same as $A \otimes \text{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Z})$. If M is a permutation module, there is a natural isomorphism $M \cong \text{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Z})$, and it induces a principal polarisation on $A \otimes M$.

Now suppose $f: M_X \to M_Y$ is an isogeny of G_K -modules (a G_K -invariant injection with finite cokernel), viewed as an $n \times n$ -matrix with integer coefficients. Then

$$\phi_f: X \xrightarrow{\psi_X^{-1}} A^n \xrightarrow{f} A^n \xrightarrow{\psi_Y} Y$$

is an isogeny of degree $|\det f|^{2 \dim A}$ defined over K ([24, Prop. 6a]), with the dual isogeny

$$\phi_f^t: X^t \stackrel{(\psi_X^{-1})^t}{\longleftarrow} (A^n)^t \stackrel{f^t}{\longleftarrow} (A^n)^t \stackrel{\psi_Y^t}{\longleftarrow} Y^t.$$

With respect to the above polarisations, f^t is the transpose of f (see e.g. [10, §1.6, esp. Lemma 3]).

To summarise: the natural identifications $M_X \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $M_Y \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ induce principal polarisations on X and Y; an isogeny $f: M_X \to M_Y$ induces an isogeny $\phi_f: X \to Y$ of degree $|\det f|^{2 \dim A}$; suppressing the principal polarisations, $(\phi_f)^t \phi_f = \phi_{f^t f}$ where f^t is the transposed matrix and $(\phi_f)^t$ is the dual isogeny. Thus, the right-hand side in Corollary 4.5 for ϕ_f becomes Q of an explicit endomorphism $\phi_{f^t f}$ of X.

4.3. Determining Q. Fix a principally polarised abelian variety A/K and a finite extension F/K with Galois group G.

Let $\{\rho_k\}_k$ be the set of Q-irreducible rational representations of *G*. For $\rho \in \{\rho_k\}$ we will write $\operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho)$ for the p^{∞} -Selmer rank of $A \otimes \Lambda$, where $\mathbb{Z}^{\dim \rho} \cong \Lambda \subset \rho$ is any *G*-invariant lattice. Since the Selmer rank is the same for isogenous abelian varieties, this is independent of the choice of the lattice. Moreover, for $K \subset L \subset F$ with $\mathbb{Q}[G/\operatorname{Gal}(F/L)] \cong \bigoplus \rho_k^{n_k}$,

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(A/L) = \sum_k n_k \operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho_k).$$

We want to express Q in terms of these Selmer ranks.

LEMMA 4.6. Let V be a rational representation of G, and $f \in Aut_G(V)$. For any G-invariant lattice Λ with $\Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = V$ there is an integer $m \ge 1$ such that mf preserves Λ , and the quantity

$$Q(f) := Q(\phi_{mf:\Lambda \to \Lambda}) / Q(\phi_{m:\Lambda \to \Lambda}) \in \mathbb{Q}^*$$

is independent of Λ and m. It satisfies the following properties:

(1) Q(f'f) = Q(f')Q(f) for $f, f' \in \operatorname{Aut}_{G}(V)$.

(2) $Q(f \oplus f') = Q(f)Q(f')$ for $f \in \operatorname{Aut}_G(V), f' \in \operatorname{Aut}_G(V')$.

- (3) $Q(f) = \prod_k p^{n_k \operatorname{rk}_p(A,\rho_k)}$ if $f: V \to V$ is multiplication by p, with $V = \bigoplus_k \rho_{\nu}^{\bigoplus n_k}$ the decomposition into rational irreducibles.
- (4) Suppose $f \in \operatorname{Aut}_G(V)$ has an irreducible minimal polynomial with *p*-adically integral coefficients and $p \nmid \det f$. Then $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(f) = 0$.

Proof. Independence of *m* follows from the (obvious) special case m|m'. Similarly we can reduce to the case $\Lambda_1 \subset \Lambda_2$ with $m_1 = m_2 = m$. Let $\iota : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$ be the inclusion map, and $n \ge 1$ an integer such that $n\Lambda_2 \subset \Lambda_1$. Then

$$n \circ (\phi_{mf:\Lambda_2 \to \Lambda_2}) = \iota \circ (\phi_{mf:\Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_1}) \circ (n\iota^{-1}).$$

The independence of Λ now follows from Lemma 4.2 (1).

(1)–(3) are immediate from Lemma 4.2.

(4) Let m(x) be the minimal polynomial of f. After scaling f by an integer coprime to p if necessary, we may assume that m(x) has integer coefficients. Let $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ be a root of m, and let $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{Q}(\alpha)$. Note that α is an algebraic integer, $\alpha \in \mathbb{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$.

Via the action of f and of G, the representation ρ is naturally a $\mathcal{H}[G]$ -module. Take a G-invariant full $\mathbb{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$ -lattice Λ . (It exists, since one may take any full $\mathbb{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$ -lattice, and generate a lattice by its G-conjugates.) In particular, it is a full G-invariant \mathbb{Z} -lattice preserved by f, so that $Q(f) = Q(\phi_f)/Q(\phi_{id})$ is an integer. By Lemma 4.2(4) it is prime to p, as p does not divide deg $\phi_f = |\det f|^{2 \dim A}$. \Box

THEOREM 4.7. Let $V \cong \rho^{\oplus n}$, with ρ a \mathbb{Q} -irreducible rational representation of G, and let $f \in \operatorname{Aut}_G(V)$. Suppose p is a prime such that either

- (1) ρ is irreducible as a $\mathbb{Q}_p[G]$ -representation, or
- (2) for every irreducible factor $m(x) | \det(f xI) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$, all of the roots of m(x) in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ have the same valuation.

Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_p Q(f) \equiv \frac{\operatorname{ord}_p \det f}{\dim \rho} \operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho) \mod 2.$$

Proof. (2) First, we can break up V as follows. Let

$$\det(f - xI) = \prod_{k} m_k(x)^{n_k}$$

be the factorisation into irreducibles. Then $V_k = \ker m_k (f)^{n_k}$ is *G*-invariant because *f* commutes with the action of *G* (so that *G* preserves its generalised eigenspaces). Since $V = \bigoplus V_k$, by Lemma 4.6 (2) it suffices to prove the statement with $V = V_k$ and det(f - xI) a power of an irreducible polynomial m(x).

Suppose all the roots of m(x) in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ have the same valuation. Write

$$f^{\dim V} = p^{\operatorname{ord}_p \det f} \cdot f',$$

so that the roots of the characteristic polynomial of f' in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ are all *p*-adic units. Then $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(f') = 0$ by Lemma 4.6 (4), and the claim follows by Lemma 4.6 (1) and (3). (1) Fix an identification $V = \rho^{\oplus n}$. As $D = \text{End}_G(\rho)$ is a skew field, we can put f into a block-diagonal form by multiplying it on the left and on the right by $n \times n$ matrices with values in D that are (a) permutation matrices and (b) identity plus some element of D in (i, j)-th place $(i \neq j)$. (This is just the usual Gaussian elimination over a skew field.) All of these elementary matrices have Q = 1 (they are either of finite order or commutators) and det $= \pm 1$, so we are reduced to the case $V = \rho$.

We claim that for V irreducible over \mathbb{Q}_p , the eigenvalues of f in \mathbb{Q}_p have the same valuation (so (2) applies). But otherwise the minimal polynomial of f is reducible over \mathbb{Q}_p , and we can decompose V over \mathbb{Q}_p as above, contradicting the irreducibility.

COROLLARY 4.8. Let $K \subset L_i, L'_j \subset F$ be finite extensions with F/K Galois with Galois group G. Suppose there is an isogeny of $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -modules

$$f:\prod_i \mathbb{Z}[G/H_i] \longrightarrow \prod_j \mathbb{Z}[G/H'_j],$$

where $H_i = \text{Gal}(F/L_i)$ and $H'_j = \text{Gal}(F/L'_j)$. Assume furthermore that on every isotypical component ρ^{n_ρ} of $\prod_i \mathbb{Q}[G/H_i]$ the automorphism $f^t f$ satisfies either (1) or (2) of Theorem 4.7. Then for every elliptic curve E/K with a chosen invariant K-differential ω ,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{p} \frac{\prod_{i} C(E/L_{i})}{\prod_{j} C(E/L'_{j})} \equiv \sum_{\rho} \frac{\operatorname{ord}_{p} \operatorname{det}(f^{t} f \mid \rho^{n_{\rho}})}{\dim \rho} \operatorname{rk}_{p}(E, \rho) \mod 2,$$

the sum taken over the distinct \mathbb{Q} -irreducible rational representations of G.

Remark. This also holds for principally polarised abelian varieties for odd p, and for p = 2 provided the polarisation is induced by a *K*-rational divisor.

Here are some special cases when the theorem applies:

Example 4.9. If $G = S_n$, then every Q-irreducible rational representation is absolutely irreducible, so the condition (1) of Theorem 4.7 always holds. Thus the corollary applies for every isogeny and all p.

Example 4.10. For all groups with $|G| \le 55$, every relation of permutation representations and every prime p, we have checked that there is always an isogeny satisfying one of the conditions of Theorem 4.7 on every isotypical component. In each case, the coefficient of $\operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho)$ agrees with the regulator constant of Section 2.3. Is this true in general?²

4.4. *Example: Selmer ranks for* $\binom{1}{0}^{*}$ *-extensions.* As an illustration, we extend Corollary 2.21 to Selmer ranks:

²Yes, see [13] which provides an analogue of regulator constants for Selmer groups.

THEOREM 4.11. Let *p* be an odd prime. Suppose F/K has Galois group $G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$, and let *M* and *L* be the fixed fields of $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$, respectively. For every principally polarised abelian variety A/K,

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(A/K) + \operatorname{rk}_p(A/L) + \operatorname{rk}_p(A/M) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(A/F)}{C(A/M)} \pmod{2}.$$

Proof. Consider the abelian varieties

$$X = W_{L/K}(A)^{p-1} \times W_{M/K}(A), \qquad Y = A^{p-1} \times W_{F/K}(A).$$

By Corollary 4.5, it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(A/K) + \operatorname{rk}_p(A/L) + \operatorname{rk}_p(A/M) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p Q(\phi^t \phi) \pmod{2}$$

for some isogeny $\phi : X \to Y$. Write $\operatorname{Gal}(F/M) = \langle g \rangle$, $\operatorname{Gal}(F/L) = \langle h \rangle$ with $g^p = 1 = h^{p-1}$, and introduce permutation modules

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{Z}_{K} &= \mathbb{Z}[G/G] &= \mathbb{Z} \\ \mathbb{Z}_{L} &= \mathbb{Z}[G/\langle h \rangle] &= \oplus \mathbb{Z}g^{i} \\ \mathbb{Z}_{M} &= \mathbb{Z}[G/\langle g \rangle] &= \oplus \mathbb{Z}h^{j} \\ \mathbb{Z}_{F} &= \mathbb{Z}[G] \\ &= \oplus \mathbb{Z}g^{i}h^{j}. \end{aligned}$$

Consider

$$V_1 = \mathbb{Z}_L x_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{Z}_L x_{p-1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_M x_p,$$

$$V_2 = \mathbb{Z}_K y_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{Z}_K y_{p-1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_F y_p,$$

and take the G-invariant map $f: V_1 \to V_2$ determined by

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1 & \mapsto & y_1 & & + & \sum_j h^j y_p, \\ x_k & \mapsto & y_1 - y_k & & + & \sum_j h^j (1 - g^{1 - k}) y_p & (k = 2, \dots, p - 1), \\ x_p & \mapsto & y_1 + \dots + y_{p - 1} & - & \sum_i h^{-1} g^i y_p. \end{array}$$

It is easy to check that the map is well-defined. Moreover, when written as a matrix on the chosen \mathbb{Z} -basis of V_1 and V_2 , it has

$$|\det f| = (p^2 - p + 1)p^{\frac{p(p-1)}{2} - 1}$$

which is nonzero. So f induces an isogeny $\phi_f : X \to Y$ (§4.2). Next, ϕ_f^t is given by the transposed matrix (§4.2 again), and the composition $f^t f$ by

$$\begin{array}{l} x_1 \ \mapsto \ \sum_{i \neq 0} \, (g^i \, x_1 + p \, x_i), \\ x_k \ \mapsto \ p \, x_k + \sum_{i \neq 0} \, p \, x_i, \\ x_p \ \mapsto \ (p + \sum_j (p - 1) h^j) \, x_p. \end{array} (k = 2, \dots, p - 1),$$

(As an example, for p = 3 the maps f and $f^t f$ are

with respect to the bases $\{x_1, gx_1, g^2x_1, x_2, gx_2, g^2x_2, x_3, hx_3\}$ of V_1 and $\{y_1, y_2, y_3, gy_3, g^2y_3, hy_3, hgy_3, hg^2y_3\}$ of V_2 .)

Clearly $f^t f = \alpha_1 \oplus \alpha_2$, with α_1 an endomorphism of \mathbb{Z}_L^{p-1} and α_2 of \mathbb{Z}_M . To prove the theorem it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{p} Q(\alpha_{1}) = (p-2)\operatorname{rk}_{p}(W_{L/K}(A)/K),$$

$$\operatorname{ord}_{p} Q(\alpha_{2}) = \operatorname{rk}_{p}(W_{M/K}(A)/K) - \operatorname{rk}_{p}(A/K).$$

The map α_1 is the composition of id $\oplus p \oplus \cdots \oplus p$ with an endomorphism of determinant $p^2 - p + 1$. Each multiplication by p on a copy of $W_{L/K}(A)$ contributes $p^{\operatorname{rk}_p(W_{L/K}(A)/K)}$ to $Q(\alpha_1)$, and the remaining endomorphism contributes nothing (Lemma 4.2).

As for α_2 , consider

$$\alpha_2 \oplus [p] : \mathbb{Z}_M z_1 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_K z_2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_M z_1 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_K z_2.$$

It is easy to check that

$$\alpha_3 \circ (\alpha_2 \oplus [p]) = ([p] \oplus \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha_4$$

with

$$\alpha_3: \begin{cases} z_1 \to z_1 + \sum_j h^j z_1 \\ z_2 \to (p-1) \sum_j h^j z_2 \end{cases}, \quad \alpha_4: \begin{cases} z_1 \to z_1 + p \sum_j h^j z_1 + z_2 \\ z_2 \to (p-1)(p^2 - p + 1) \sum_j h^j z_1 \end{cases}.$$

Furthermore, det α_3 and det α_4 are prime to p, and it follows that $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(\alpha_2)$ is $\operatorname{rk}_p(W_{M/K}(A)/K) - \operatorname{rk}_p(A/K)$, as asserted.

Using the result on the local Tamagawa numbers in this extension (Proposition 3.3) we obtain the following strengthening of Theorem 3.4.

COROLLARY 4.12. Let *p* be an odd prime. As above, let F/K have Galois group $G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$, and let *M* and *L* be the fixed fields of $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$, respectively. For every elliptic curve E/K with semistable reduction at the primes $v \mid 6$ that ramify in L/K,

 $\operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/K) + \operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/M) + \operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/L)$ is even $\Leftrightarrow w(E/K)w(E/M)w(E/L) = 1$.

This can be used to study the ranks of elliptic curves in an infinite "false Tate curve extension" with Galois group $\binom{1}{0}{*} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Arithmetic of elliptic curves (ordinary at p) in such extensions has been studied in the context of noncommutative Iwasawa theory; see e.g. [17], [7], [8].

Fix a number field K, an odd prime p, and $\alpha \in K^*$. We are interested in the extensions $K(\sqrt[p^n]{\alpha})$ and $K(\mu_{p^n}, \sqrt[p^n]{\alpha})$ of K. We will assume that their degree is maximal possible, i.e. p^n and $(p-1)p^{2n-1}$, respectively.

PROPOSITION 4.13. Let E/K be an elliptic curve for which the parity of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank agrees with the root number over K and over $K(\mu_p)$, and semistable at all primes v|6 that ramify in $K(\sqrt[p^n]{\alpha})/K$. Then

$$\operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/K(\sqrt[p^{n}]{\alpha}))$$
 is even $\iff w(E/K(\sqrt[p^{n}]{\alpha})) = 1.$

Proof. For brevity, let us write $L_i = K(\sqrt[p^i]{\alpha})$ and $F_i = K(\mu_p, \sqrt[p^i]{\alpha})$ for $i \ge 0$. We prove the result by induction on *i*, by showing that if the parity of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank agrees with the root number over L_{i-1} and F_{i-1} then it does so over L_i and F_i (for $1 \le i \le n$).

The extension F_i/F_{i-1} is Galois of odd degree, so that $w(E/F_i) = w(E/F_{i-1})$. By Corollary 4.15 below, the parity of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank is also unchanged in this extension. The fact that the parity of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank agrees with the root number over L_i follows from Corollary 4.12 applied to the extension F_i/L_{i-1} . \Box

The following is a standard result on the behaviour of Selmer groups in Galois extensions. We give a brief proof for lack of a reference. Write Sel_{p^n} and $\text{Sel}_{p^{\infty}}$ for the p^n - and p^{∞} -Selmer groups, and set

$$\mathscr{X}_p(E/K) = \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Sel}_p \otimes (E/K), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

The p^{∞} -Selmer rank of E/K is the same as the dimension of $\mathscr{X}_p(E/K)$ as a \mathbb{Q}_p -vector space.

LEMMA 4.14. Let E/K be an elliptic curve, and let F/K be a finite Galois extension with Galois group G. Then

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(E/K) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathscr{X}_p(E/F)^G.$$

Proof. The restriction map from $H^1(K, E[p^n])$ to $H^1(F, E[p^n])^G$ induces a map $\operatorname{Sel}_{p^n}(E/K) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{p^n}(E/F)^G$ whose kernel and cokernel are killed by $|G|^2$. Taking direct limits gives a map from $\operatorname{Sel}_{p^{\infty}}(E/K)$ to $\operatorname{Sel}_{p^{\infty}}(E/F)^G$, whose kernel and cokernel are killed by $|G|^2$. The result follows by taking duals and tensoring with \mathbb{Q}_p .

A cyclic group of order p has only two \mathbb{Q}_p -irreducible p-adic representations, the trivial one and one of dimension p-1. Thus,

COROLLARY 4.15. The parity of the p^{∞} -Selmer rank in unchanged in cyclic *p*-extensions.

Example 4.16. Let p = 3 and consider the elliptic curve

$$E: y^{2} + xy = x^{3} - x^{2} - 2x - 1 \qquad (49A1).$$

It has additive reduction of Kodaira type III at 7 and is supersingular at 3.

For a false Tate curve extension, we take $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_{3^n}, \sqrt[3^n]{m})$ for some cube free m > 1. Using 3-descent for *E* and its quadratic twist by -3 over \mathbb{Q} , it is easy to see that $\operatorname{rk}(E/\mathbb{Q})=\operatorname{rk}_3(E/\mathbb{Q})=0$ and $\operatorname{rk}(E/\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3))=\operatorname{rk}_3(E/\mathbb{Q}(\mu_3))=1$, both in agreement with the root numbers.

By Proposition 4.13, the 3^{∞} -Selmer rank of E over $L_n = K(\sqrt[p^n]{m})$ agrees with the root number, which equals $(-1)^n$ for every m (-1 from v|7 and $(-1)^{n-1}$ from $v|\infty)$. Because the Selmer rank is nondecreasing in extensions (e.g. by Lemma 4.14), the 3^{∞} -Selmer rank must be at least n over L_n . In fact, using Lemma 4.14 and the fact that $\operatorname{Ind}_{L_n/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbf{1}_{L_n} \ominus \operatorname{Ind}_{L_{n-1}/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbf{1}_{L_{n-1}}$ is irreducible, it is easy to see that the 3^{∞} -Selmer rank over $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_{3^n}, \sqrt[3^n]{m})$ is at least 3^n .

4.5. *Example: Dihedral groups.* As another illustration, we consider dihedral groups to obtain results similar to [23, e.g. Th. 8.5]. For simplicity, we will only look at D_{2p} with p an odd prime.

PROPOSITION 4.17. Suppose $Gal(F/K) = D_{2p}$ with p an odd prime, and pick extensions M/K and L/K in F of degree 2 and p, respectively. For every principally polarised abelian variety A/K,

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(A/M) + \frac{2}{p-1}(\operatorname{rk}_p(A/L) - \operatorname{rk}_p(A/K)) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(A/F)}{C(A/M)} \pmod{2}.$$

Proof. First let $G = D_{2n} = \langle g, h | g^n = h^2 = hghg = 1 \rangle$ for a general *n*, and write $n = 2m + \delta$ with $\delta \in \{0, 1\}$. Take the permutation modules

$$V_1 = v_1 \mathbb{Z}[G/\langle g^{-1}h \rangle] \oplus v_2 \mathbb{Z}[G/\langle g^{-2}h \rangle] \oplus v_3 \mathbb{Z}[G/\langle g \rangle],$$

$$V_2 = w_1 \mathbb{Z}[G/G] \oplus w_2 \mathbb{Z}[G/G] \oplus w_3 \mathbb{Z}[G].$$

Consider $f: V_1 \to V_2$ and $f^t f: V_1 \to V_1$ given respectively by

$$v_{1} \mapsto (1 + g^{-1}h)w_{3}, \qquad v_{1} \mapsto 2v_{1}, \\ v_{2} \mapsto w_{2} + g^{m-2}(1 - g^{1+\delta})(g - h)w_{3}, \qquad v_{2} \mapsto \left(4 - 2g^{1+\delta} - 2g^{-1-\delta} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} g^{i}\right)v_{2}, \\ v_{3} \mapsto w_{1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} g^{i}(1 - h)w_{3}, \qquad v_{3} \mapsto \left((2n + 1) - (2n - 1)h\right)v_{3}.$$

Note that $f^t f$ decomposes naturally as $\alpha_1 \oplus \alpha_2 \oplus \alpha_3$ on V_1 , and that α_2 is given on the basis $\{v_2, gv_2, \dots, g^{n-1}v_2\}$ by the matrices

$\begin{pmatrix} 5 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & -1 \\ -1 & 5 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 5 & -1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 & 5 & -1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & 5 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots$	$ \begin{pmatrix} 5 & 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & 5 & 1 & -1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & -1 \\ -1 & 1 & 5 & 1 & -1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 5 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 & 1 & 5 & \dots & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots &$
$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 5 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & -1 & 5 & -1 \\ -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & -1 & 5 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 5 & 1 & -1 \\ -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 & 5 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & -1 & 1 & 5 \end{pmatrix}$
$n \ge 4 \text{ even}$	$n \ge 3 \text{ odd}$

with det $\alpha_2 = 2^{n-1}n^3$ for any $n \ge 2$.

Now suppose that n = p is an odd prime, so that

$$A \otimes V_1 = W_{L/K}(A)^2 \times W_{M/K}(A), \qquad A \otimes V_2 = A^2 \times W_{F/K}(A).$$

By Corollary 4.5, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(\phi_{f^t f})$ has the same parity as the left-hand side of the formula in the proposition. Since $f^t f = \alpha_1 \oplus \alpha_2 \oplus \alpha_3$, it remains to determine $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(\alpha_i)$. Clearly $Q(\alpha_1)$ is prime to p. Next, α_3 acts as multiplication by 2 (resp. 4p) on the trivial (resp. "sign") component of $\mathbb{Q}[G/\langle g \rangle]$; so $\operatorname{ord}_p Q(\alpha_3) = \operatorname{rk}_p(A/M) - \operatorname{rk}_p(A/K)$.

Finally, α_2 on $\mathbb{Q}[G/\langle g^{-2}h\rangle] \cong \mathbf{1} \oplus \rho$ has determinant p on $\mathbf{1}$ and therefore determinant $2^{p-1}p^2$ on ρ . As $\mathbf{1}, \rho$ are \mathbb{Q}_p -irreducible, Theorem 4.7 applies:

$$\operatorname{ord}_p Q(\alpha_2) = \operatorname{rk}_p(A, \mathbf{1}) + \frac{2}{p-1}\operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho)$$

Since $\operatorname{rk}_p(A, \rho) = \operatorname{rk}_p(A/L) - \operatorname{rk}_p(A/K)$, this completes the proof.

Remark 4.18. Let E/K be an elliptic curve, and for simplicity let p > 3. Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(E/F)}{C(E/M)} \equiv |S_1| + |S_2| \mod 2,$$

where S_1 (resp. S_2) is the set of primes v of M that ramify in F/M where E has split multiplicative reduction (resp. additive reduction, v|p, M_v/\mathbb{Q}_p has odd residue degree, and $\lfloor p \operatorname{ord}_v(\Delta_v)/12 \rfloor$ is odd; Δ_v is the minimal discriminant of E at v). So if $\operatorname{rk}_p(E/M) + |S_1| + |S_2|$ is odd, then

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(E/L) \ge \operatorname{rk}_p(E/K) + \frac{p-1}{2}.$$

4.6. Application to the *p*-Parity Conjecture over \mathbb{Q} .

THEOREM 4.19 (=Theorem 1.4). For every elliptic curve E/\mathbb{Q} and every prime p,

$$\operatorname{rk}_{p}(E/\mathbb{Q}) \equiv \operatorname{ord}_{s=1} L(E, s) \mod 2.$$

Proof. For p = 2 this is due to Monsky [26], so suppose p is odd. (Presumably the proof below would work for modular abelian varieties over totally real fields.)

By the results of Bump-Friedberg-Hoffstein-Murty-Murty-Waldspurger [4], [27], [37], there is an imaginary quadratic field M_0 where all bad primes of E split, and such that the quadratic twist of E by M_0 has analytic rank at most 1. By Kolyvagin's theorem [20], the parity conjecture holds for the twist, so it suffices to prove it for E/M_0 .

Let M_n denote the *n*-th layer in the anticyclotomic \mathbb{Z}_p -extension of M_0 . The parity of the analytic rank is the same over M_n as over M_0 since the root number is unchanged in cyclic odd-degree extensions. The same holds for the p^{∞} -Selmer rank (Corollary 4.15), so it suffices to prove the parity statement for E/M_n for some *n*.

Embedding M_{n+1} in \mathbb{C} , we see that complex conjugation acts on the cyclic group $\operatorname{Gal}(M_{n+1}/M_0)$ as -1, so that $\operatorname{Gal}(M_{n+1}/\mathbb{Q})$ is dihedral. Write

$$F = M_{n+1}, \quad M = M_n, \quad L = M_{n+1} \cap \mathbb{R}, \quad K = M_n \cap \mathbb{R}.$$

Then $H = \text{Gal}(F/K) \cong D_{2p}$. It has three \mathbb{Q}_p -irreducible *p*-adic representations: trivial **1**, sign ε and (p-1)-dimensional ρ . As before, write $\mathscr{X}_p(E/k)$ for the dual Selmer group Hom $(\text{Sel}_p \propto (E/k), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$, and decompose

$$\mathscr{X} = \mathscr{X}_p(E/F) \cong \mathbf{1}^{\oplus m_1} \oplus \varepsilon^{\oplus m_\varepsilon} \oplus \rho^{\oplus m_\rho}$$

As $\mathscr{X}_p(E/K) = \mathscr{X}^H$ etc. (Lemma 4.14),

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(E/K) = m_1$$
, $\operatorname{rk}_p(E/M) = m_1 + m_{\varepsilon}$, $\operatorname{rk}_p(E/L) = m_1 + \frac{p-1}{2}m_{\rho}$.

Now we invoke Proposition 4.17:

$$\operatorname{rk}_p(E/M) + m_\rho \equiv \operatorname{ord}_p \frac{C(E/F)}{C(E/M)} \mod 2$$

Since all bad primes of *E* split in M/K, the root number w(E/M) = -1 and both C(E/F) and C(E/M) are squares. So the right-hand side in the above formula is zero, and it suffices to show that m_{ρ} is odd.

Now take *n* large enough. Then Cornut-Vatsal's [9, Th. 1.5] provides a primitive character χ of Gal(F/M_0) such that the twisted *L*-function $L(E/M_0, \chi, s)$ has a simple zero at s = 1. Their theorem requires N_E , Δ_{M_0} and *p* to be coprime, but as they explain this is only necessary to invoke the Gross-Zagier-Zhang formula; this formula has now been proved in complete generality by Yuan-Zhang-Zhang [39].

By Tian-Zhang [36], which generalises the earlier work by Bertolini-Darmon [1], the χ -component of \mathscr{X} has multiplicity 1. So \mathscr{X} contains exactly one copy of the unique $(p-1)p^n$ -dimensional \mathbb{Q}_p -irreducible *p*-adic representation of Gal (F/\mathbb{Q}) . Its restriction to *H* is $\rho^{\oplus p^n}$, and no other representation contributes to ρ , so $m_\rho = p^n$ is odd.

(As an alternative to the yet unavailable [39], [36], one may bypass the *L*-functions completely by combining Cornut-Vatsal's [9, Th. 4.2] with Nekovář's [29, Th. 3.2]. This directly yields a χ such that the χ -component of \Re has multiplicity 1.) \Box

COROLLARY 4.20. For every E/\mathbb{Q} , either the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer rank formula holds modulo 2 (Conjecture 1.1), or $\operatorname{III}(E/\mathbb{Q})$ contains a copy of \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} .

Acknowledgements Parts of this research have been carried out while the first author (T.) was a University Research Fellowship holder of the Royal Society and while the second author (V.) stayed at the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics (Bonn). We are grateful to both institutions for their support. We would also like to thank Henri Darmon, Claus Diem, Matteo Longo and Robert Prince for helpful discussions, and the referee for the comments on the paper.

References

- M. BERTOLINI and H. DARMON, Iwasawa's main conjecture for elliptic curves over anticyclotomic Z_p-extensions, *Ann. of Math.* 162 (2005), 1–64. MR 2006g:11218 Zbl 1093.11037
- [2] B. J. BIRCH, Conjectures concerning elliptic curves, in *Proc. Sympos. Pure Math.*, Vol. VIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1965, pp. 106–112. MR 30 #4759 Zbl 0238.14011
- B. J. BIRCH and N. M. STEPHENS, The parity of the rank of the Mordell-Weil group, *Topology* 5 (1966), 295–299. MR 34 #1263 Zbl 0146.42401
- [4] D. BUMP, S. FRIEDBERG, and J. HOFFSTEIN, Nonvanishing theorems for *L*-functions of modular forms and their derivatives, *Invent. Math.* 102 (1990), 543–618. MR 92a:11058 Zbl 0721.11023
- [5] J. W. S. CASSELS, Arithmetic on curves of genus 1. IV. Proof of the hauptvermutung, J. Reine Angew. Math. 211 (1962), 95–112. MR 29 #1214 Zbl 0106.03706
- [6] _____, Arithmetic on curves of genus 1. VIII. On conjectures of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer, J. Reine Angew. Math. 217 (1965), 180–199. MR 31 #3420 Zbl 0241.14017
- [7] J. COATES, T. FUKAYA, K. KATO, and R. SUJATHA, Root numbers, Selmer groups, and noncommutative Iwasawa theory, J. Algebraic Geom. 19 (2010), 19–97. MR 2551757
- [8] J. COATES and R. SUJATHA, appendix to Computations in non-commutative Iwasawa theory, by T. Dokchitser and V. Dokchitser, *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* 94 (2007), 211–272. MR 2008g: 11106 Zbl pre05129594
- [9] C. CORNUT and V. VATSAL, Nontriviality of Rankin-Selberg L-functions and CM points, in L-Functions and Galois Representations, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 320, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007, pp. 121–186. MR 2009m:11088 Zbl 1153.11025
- [10] C. DIEM and N. NAUMANN, On the structure of Weil restrictions of abelian varieties, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 18 (2003), 153–174. MR 2004m:14096 Zbl 1080.14536
- [11] T. DOKCHITSER and V. DOKCHITSER, Parity of ranks for elliptic curves with a cyclic isogeny, J. Number Theory 128 (2008), 662–679. MR 2009c:11079 Zbl 05242979
- [12] _____, Regulator constants and the parity conjecture, *Invent. Math* 178 (2009), 23–71. MR 2534092 Zbl pre05602515
- [13] _____, Self-duality of Selmer groups, *Math. Proc. Cam. Phil. Soc.* 146 (2009), 257–267. MR 2010a:11219 Zbl pre05532372
- [14] V. DOKCHITSER, Root numbers of non-abelian twists of elliptic curves, *Proc. London Math. Soc.* 91 (2005), 300–324. MR 2006f:11060 Zbl 1076.11042
- [15] R. GREENBERG, On the Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture, *Invent. Math.* 72 (1983), 241–265. MR 85c:11052 Zbl 0546.14015
- [16] L. GUO, General Selmer groups and critical values of Hecke L-functions, Math. Ann. 297 (1993), 221–233. MR 95b:11064 Zbl 0789.14018
- [17] Y. HACHIMORI and O. VENJAKOB, Completely faithful Selmer groups over Kummer extensions, *Doc. Math.* (2003), 443–478, Extra volume: Kazuya Kato's fiftieth birthday. MR 2005b: 11072 Zbl 1117.14046
- [18] B. D. KIM, The parity conjecture for elliptic curves at supersingular reduction primes, *Compos. Math.* 143 (2007), 47–72. MR 2007k:11091 Zbl 1169.11022
- [19] S.-I. KOBAYASHI, The local root number of elliptic curves with wild ramification, *Math. Ann.* 323 (2002), 609–623. MR 2004b:11083 Zbl 1117.11034
- [20] V. A. KOLYVAGIN, Euler systems, in *The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. II, Progr. Math.* 87, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 435–483. MR 92g:11109 Zbl 0742.14017
- [21] K. KRAMER and J. TUNNELL, Elliptic curves and local ε-factors, Compositio Math. 46 (1982), 307–352. MR 83m:14031 Zbl 0496.14030
- [22] K. KRAMER, Arithmetic of elliptic curves upon quadratic extension, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 264 (1981), 121–135. MR 82g:14028 Zbl 0471.14020

- [23] B. MAZUR and K. RUBIN, Finding large Selmer rank via an arithmetic theory of local constants, Ann. of Math. 166 (2007), 579–612. MR 2009a:11127 Zbl 05248867
- [24] J. S. MILNE, On the arithmetic of abelian varieties, *Invent. Math.* 17 (1972), 177–190. MR 48
 #8512 Zbl 0249.14012
- [25] _____, Arithmetic Duality Theorems, Perspectives in Mathematics 1, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1986. MR 88e:14028 Zbl 0613.14019
- [26] P. MONSKY, Generalizing the Birch-Stephens theorem. I. Modular curves, *Math. Z.* 221 (1996), 415–420. MR 97a:11103
- [27] M. R. MURTY and V. K. MURTY, Mean values of derivatives of modular *L*-series, *Ann. of Math.* **133** (1991), 447–475. MR 92e:11050 Zbl 0745.11032
- [28] J. NEKOVÁŘ, Selmer Complexes, Astérisque 310, 2006. MR 2009c:11176 Zbl 05161833
- [29] _____, The Euler system method for CM points on Shimura curves, in L-Functions and Galois Representations, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 320, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007, pp. 471–547. MR 2010a:11110 Zbl 1152.11023
- [30] B. POONEN and M. STOLL, The Cassels-Tate pairing on polarized abelian varieties, Ann. of Math. 150 (1999), 1109–1149. MR 2000m:11048 Zbl 1024.11040
- [31] D. E. ROHRLICH, Variation of the root number in families of elliptic curves, *Compositio Math.* 87 (1993), 119–151. MR 94d:11045 Zbl 0791.11026
- [32] J.-P. SERRE, Linear Representations of Finite Groups, Grad. Texts.Math. 42, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. MR 56 #8675 Zbl 0355.20006
- [33] J. H. SILVERMAN, Advanced Topics in the Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves, Grad. Texts Math. 151, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. MR 96b:11074 Zbl 0911.14015
- [34] J. TATE, On the conjectures of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer and a geometric analog, Séminaire Bourbaki, 18e année, 1965/66, no. 306.
- [35] _____, Duality theorems in Galois cohomology over number fields, in *Proc. Internat. Congr. Mathematicians* (Stockholm, 1962), Inst. Mittag-Leffler, Djursholm, 1963, pp. 288–295. MR 31 #168 Zbl 0126.07002
- [36] Y. TIAN and S. ZHANG, Euler system of CM-points on Shimura curves, in preparation.
- [37] J.-L. WALDSPURGER, Correspondences de Shimura et quaternions, Forum Math. 3 (1991), 219–307. MR 92g:11054 Zbl 0724.11026
- [38] H. YU, Idempotent relations and the conjecture of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer, *Math. Ann.* 327 (2003), 67–78. MR 2005a:11096 Zbl 1089.11036
- [39] X. YUAN, S. ZHANG, and W. ZHANG, Heights of CM points I: Gross-Zagier formula, preprint, 2008.

(Received October 12, 2006)

E-mail address: t.dokchitser@dpmms.cam.ac.uk UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE, ROBINSON COLLEGE, CAMBRIDGE CB3 9AN, UNITED KINGDOM http://www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/~td278/

E-mail address: v.dokchitser@dpmms.cam.ac.uk UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE, GONVILLE & CAIUS COLLEGE, CAMBRIDGE CB2 1TA, UNITED KINGDOM

http://www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/~vd209/

ISSN 0003-486X

ANNALS OF MATHEMATICS

This periodical is published bimonthly by the Department of Mathematics at Princeton University with the cooperation of the Institute for Advanced Study. Annals is typeset in T_EX by Sarah R. Warren and produced by Mathematical Sciences Publishers. The six numbers each year are divided into two volumes of three numbers each.

Editorial correspondence

Papers submitted for publication and editorial correspondence should be addressed to Maureen Schupsky, Annals of Mathematics, Fine Hall-Washington Road, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ, 08544-1000 U.S.A. The e-mail address is annals@math.princeton.edu.

Preparing and submitting papers

The Annals requests that all papers include an abstract of about 150 words which explains to the nonspecialist mathematician what the paper is about. It should not make any reference to the bibliography. Authors are encouraged to initially submit their papers electronically and in PDF format. Please send the file to: annals@math.princeton.edu or to the Mathematics e-print arXiv: front.math.ucdavis.edu/submissions. If a paper is submitted through the arXiv, then please e-mail us with the arXiv number of the paper.

Proofs

A PDF file of the galley proof will be sent to the corresponding author for correction. If requested, a paper copy will also be sent to the author.

Offprints

Authors of single-authored papers will receive 30 offprints. (Authors of papers with one co-author will receive 15 offprints, and authors of papers with two or more co-authors will receive 10 offprints.) Extra offprints may be purchased through the editorial office.

Subscriptions

The price for a print and online subscription, or an online-only subscription, is \$390 per year for institutions. In addition, there is a postage surcharge of \$40 for print subscriptions that are mailed to countries outside of the United States. Individuals interested in subscriptions for their own personal use should contact the publisher at the address below. Subscriptions and changes of address should be sent to Mathematical Sciences Publishers, Department of Mathematics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720-3840 (e-mail: contact@mathscipub.org; phone: 1-510-643-8638; fax: 1-510-295-2608). (Checks should be made payable to "Mathematical Sciences Publishers".)

Back issues and reprints

Orders for missing issues and back issues should be sent to Mathematical Sciences Publishers at the above address. Claims for missing issues must be made within 12 months of the publication date. Online versions of papers published five or more years ago are available through JSTOR (www.jstor.org).

Microfilm

Beginning with Volume 1, microfilm may be purchased from NA Publishing, Inc., 4750 Venture Drive, Suite 400, PO Box 998, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-0998; phone: 1-800-420-6272 or 734-302-6500; email: info@napubco.com, website: www.napubco.com/contact.html.

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED UNDER THE BERNE CONVENTION AND THE UNIVERSAL COPYRIGHT CONVENTION

Copyright © 2010 by Princeton University (Mathematics Department) Printed in U.S.A. by Sheridan Printing Company, Inc., Alpha, NJ

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DENIS OSIN. Small cancellations over relatively hyperbolic groups and embedding theorems	1–39
HARUZO HIDA. The Iwasawa μ -invariant of p -adic Hecke L -functions	. 41–137
IRENE I. BOUW and MARTIN MÖLLER. Teichmüller curves, triangle groups, and Lyapunov exponents	
IGOR RODNIANSKI and JACOB STERBENZ. On the formation of singularities in the critical $O(3) \sigma$ -model	
YUAN-PIN LEE, HUI-WEN LIN and CHIN-LUNG WANG. Flops, motives, and invariance of quantum rings	
LÁSZLÓ ERDŐS, BENJAMIN SCHLEIN and HORNG-TZER YAU. Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate	
L. HAKAN ELIASSON and SERGEI B. KUKSIN. KAM for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation	371-435
MIRIAM BRISKIN, NINA ROYTVARF and YOSEF YOMDIN. Center conditions at infinity for Abel differential equations	
IGOR KRICHEVER. Characterizing Jacobians via trisecants of the Kummer variety	485–516
MARC BURGER, ALESSANDRA IOZZI and ANNA WIENHARD. Surface group representations with maximal Toledo invariant	517-566
TIM DOKCHITSER and VLADIMIR DOKCHITSER. On the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer quotients modulo squares	567-596
DMITRI BELIAEV and STANISLAV SMIRNOV. Random conformal snowflakes	597-615
SOURAV CHATTERJEE, RON PELED, YUVAL PERES and DAN ROMIK. Gravitational allocation to Poisson points	617-671
RADU LAZA. The moduli space of cubic fourfolds via the period map	673–711
NARUTAKA OZAWA and SORIN POPA. On a class of $\rm II_1$ factors with at most one Cartan subalgebra	
MINHYONG KIM. <i>p</i> -adic <i>L</i> -functions and Selmer varieties associated to elliptic curves with complex multiplication	751-759